IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEAL OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case No. 22-ICA-301 (Underlying Marion County Civil Action No. 18-C-110) ICA EFiled: Mar 10 2023 01:14PM EST Transaction ID 69317185

ANDREA DALE DYE,

Petitioner,

v.

FARMERS & MECHANICS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

PREPARED BY:

Counsel for Andrea Dale Dye

ERIC M. HAYHURST (W.Va. No. 11042) HAYHURST LAW, PLLC 34 Commerce Drive, Suite 203 Morgantown, WV 26501 Telephone: (304) 212-7099 Facsimile: (304) 212-7108 eric@hayhurstlaw.com

DATED: March 10, 2023

II. QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia (F&M) and against the Petitioner Andrea Dale Dye on the issue of whether the facts of the underlying case constitute an "occurrence" under the subject F&M insurance policy such that F&M does not owe a duty to defend nor a duty to indemnify the Petitioner in the underlying civil action?

2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent F&M and against the Petitioner Andrea Dale Dye on the issue of whether the Petitioner engaged in a "business" as defined by the subject F&M insurance policy such that F&M does not owe a duty to defend nor a duty to indemnify the Petitioner in the underlying civil action?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Property and Timbering of the Dye and Bradley Properties.

This is declaratory judgment action regarding the operation of a homeowners insurance policy issued by the F&M to Ms. Dye for her home and property located at 1872 Flaggy Meadow Road in Mannington, West Virginia. The case begins sometime in November or December, 2015 when Ms. Dye was approached by Larry Jones of Jones Hauling regarding an easement across her property to access the neighboring Hayes property, which Mr. Jones was timbering. R00913-916. At the same time, Mr. Jones inquired about the possible timbering of Ms. Dye's property and presented Ms. Dye with a "Timber Sale Contract" ("Contract"). R00916. Later, it was revealed that Jones Hauling would also be timbering another adjacent property belonging to Herbert Hill. *Id.* Subsequently, Ms. Dye granted Mr. Jones and Jones Hauling the easement over her property for a payment of a five hundred dollars. R00175.

On January 10, 2016, Ms. Dye signed the Contract, thereby agreeing to sell and Jones Hauling agreeing to buy "all standing timber ... growing on and forming a part of real property owned by [Ms. Dye]." R00342-344. The Contract further states as follows:

SECTION FIVE INDEMNITY

1. Seller [Ms. Dye] makes no representations as to the present or future condition of its property. ... Buyer [Jones Hauling] hereby represents that he is personally familiar with [Ms. Dye's] property, and the boundary lines delineating the area to be logged.

•••

SECTION EIGHT

Buyer hereby covenants not to cut any line or trees on land owned by other third parties over which a right of way has not been procured. ...

Id.

At or near the time the Contract was signed, Ms. Dye provided Mr. Jones with a plat regarding her property. R00916. However, Ms. Dye made no further representation to Jones Hauling about what property or timber she did or did not own. *Id.* Nor did she ever walk or in any way mark her property or trees with or for Mr. Jones or anyone at Jones Hauling. R00918. Ms. Dye relied entirely upon the terms of the Contract and Mr. Jones' verbal representations that he was familiar with her property and would timber only her property. R00918-919.

Ms. Dye was and continues to be a novice as it pertains to timbering – she has no experience with regard to selling her timber or otherwise with the timbering industry. R00911-912. Neither does she particularly know the boundaries of her own property as she had never had it surveyed, walked it or otherwise investigated the metes and bounds of her property. R00913

Ms. Dye's real property is located adjacent to property owned by Gregory and Judy Bradley, Plaintiffs below. R00868. The Bradleys purchased their property, consisting of approximately 65 acres, between 2010 and 2012. R00835-836, 840. The Bradley property borders Ms. Dye's property to the west and is only accessible by vehicle through an easement access road across the Dye property – the same road Ms. Dye granted an easement to Jones Hauling for its timbering operations. R00837, 868. The Bradleys' property was only marked with a single "no trespassing" sign near the entrance of the property (on the easement road from the Dye property), but no other defining markings.¹ R00845.

Sometime subsequent to the execution of the Contract, it is believed that Jones hauling did timber the Hayes, Hill and Dye properties. The record is unclear as to exactly when the timbering occurred on the various properties, but it is believed to have occurred on the Dye property in early to mid-2016, as evidenced by the checks received by Ms. Dye from Jones Hauling. R01422-1429. Unbeknownst to Ms. Dye, while timbering the Dye, Hill and Hayes properties, Jones Hauling allegedly crossed onto the Bradleys' property and harvested timber from their property. R00001-4, 836, 922. Ms. Dye was unaware that any of the Bradleys' timber had been harvested. R00919-920, 922. In fact, Ms. Dye had no knowledge of or involvement in the physical timbering operations conducted by Jones Hauling. *Id.* To be sure, Plaintiff Gregory Bradley testified that he has no evidence that Ms. Dye ever entered his property to cut and remove the trees or to damage the property in any other way. R00865. In fact, when asked whether he believed that Ms. Dye physically entered his property and cut down the trees, he testified "Oh, absolutely not." *Id.*

B. The Declaratory Judgment Action and Insurance Policy.

On July 25, 2018, the Bradley's filed the underlying civil action against Ms. Dye, Larry and Roberta Jones d/b/a Jones Hauling and "other unknown defendants." R00001-4. The Complaint alleges, among other things, that "the Defendants, or any of them, … negligently,

¹ There is a fence that runs along some of the property, but the fence is not posted with any markings delineating to whom the various properties belong. R00845.

willfully, wantonly, and without warning or authority, deliberately entered onto the Plaintiff's [sic] above-stated parcel of real estate and maliciously cut and removed valuable trees from the Plaintiffs' parcel and otherwise damaged the Plaintiffs' real estate and remaining standing timber." R00002. The Plaintiffs further allege that the Defendants "negligently, willfully, wantonly, and without warning or authority, deliberately entered onto the Plaintiffs' above-stated parcel of real estate and maliciously damaged the Plaintiffs' soil, surface drainage systems, fencing and riparian buffer zones and otherwise negligently and carelessly damaged the Plaintiffs' property proximately causing damages therein." *Id.*

As a result of the claims against her, Ms. Dye presented a claim to her homeowners' insurance company, F&M, for defense and indemnification under the liability provisions of the policy issued by F&M, Policy No. HPP0057787 ("Policy"). R00195-200, 206. Subsequently, F&M began providing a defense to Ms. Dye, but under a reservation of rights letter, reserving the right to deny coverage under the Policy. R00198-199, 1690-1696. In relevant part, the October 11, 2018 F&M Reservation of Rights letter cites the definition of "occurrence" and a business exclusion under the "Damage to Property Of Others" section of the Policy, not the operable liability section of the Policy, as potentially exclusionary for the claims against Ms. Dye.² R01693-1694. Thereafter, on February 19, 2019, F&M intervened in the instant matter and filed a declaratory judgment action against its insured, Ms. Dye, alleging that it has no obligation to its insured under the Policy it sold to her and for which she paid premiums. R00185-320.

²F&M also cited other exclusionary provisions in the Policy that purportedly precluded coverage in this matter to Ms. Dye, namely an earth movement exclusion, an intentional loss exclusion and a personal liability by contract exclusion and a punitive damages exclusion. R1690-96. The Circuit Court, however, eventually granted summary judgment in favor of Ms. Dye on all of those exclusions as inapplicable, including the referenced business pursuits exclusion. R01117-1136. Those other particular exclusionary provisions are not subject of this appeal.

The Policy, a common homeowners' insurance policy, provides multiple coverages to Ms. Dye, including personal liability coverage.³ In its complaint, F&M alleged, in relevant part, that the underlying facts of the Plaintiffs' action against Ms. Dye did not constitute an "occurrence" as defined by the Policy and that there was a business pursuits exclusion that precluded coverage. *Id.* Importantly, the Policy insures Ms. Dye under "Section II – Liability Coverages" as follows:

A. Coverage E – Personal Liability

If a claim is made or a suit is brought against an "insured" for damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" caused by an "*occurrence*" to which this coverage applies, we will:

- 1. Pay up to our limit of liability for the damages for which an "insured" is legally liable. Damages include prejudgment interest awarded against an "insured"; and
- 2. Provide a defense at our expense by counsel of our choice, even is groundless, false or fraudulent. ...

R00244 (emphasis added). The Policy defines "occurrence" as an "accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions, which results, during the policy period, in: ... [p]roperty damage." R00230. The Policy does not define the term "accident." *See* R00202-320.

The business pursuits exclusion cited by F&M in its Complaint was contained with the "Damage To Property of Others" section of the policy – a completely separate coverage part from the operable liability section of the policy. R00248. That section of the policy, including the cited business exclusion, reads in relevant part:

- **B.** Damage To Property Of Others
- 1. We will pay, at replacement cost, up to \$1,000 per "occurrence" for "property damage" to property of others caused by an "insured".
- 2. We will not pay for "property damage":
 - a. To the extent of any amount recoverable under Section I;

³ There were two policy periods at issue, but both policies are essentially the same for purposes of this analysis. *See* R00202-320.

- b. Caused intentionally by an "insured" who is 13 years of age or older;
- c. To property owned by an "insured";
- d. To property owned by or rented to a tenant of an "insured" or a resident in your household; or
- e. Arising out of:
 - (1) A "business" engaged in by an "insured"; ...

Id.

On October 1, 2019, before any depositions were taken in the underlying case, F&M filed its motion for summary judgment asserting that that it did not owe Ms. Dye any duty under her Policy as (1) the Plaintiffs' claims were not an "occurrence" under the Policy as Ms. Dye's conduct was intentional, and (2) that the Plaintiffs' claims were excluded under the business exclusion in the "Damage to Property to Others" coverage. R00686-707. After briefing and oral argument on those issues, the Circuit Court denied summary judgment on the "occurrence" issue and granted summary judgment in favor of Ms. Dye on all of the Policy exclusions cited by F&M. R01117-1136.

With regard to the "occurrence" issue, the Circuit Court found that Ms. Dye "denied intentionally or deliberately entering onto the plaintiffs' property and/or intentionally or deliberately removing the plaintiffs' timber or caused damage to their property" and, as a result, "an issue of material fact [exists] that precludes granting of summary judgment in [F&M's] favor at this juncture." R01121, 1130. Further, the Circuit Court, in recognizing that there are multiple theories of liability against Ms. Dye in the underlying action, not just the physical removal of the trees, held that:

63. If there is any reasonable construction of the claims in the plaintiffs' Complaint that support coverage to defendant Dye, the Intervenor must provide her with coverage. See <u>Farmers & Mechanics Mut. Ins. Co. of W. Virginia v. Cook</u>, **supra.** This is irrespective as to whether other theories of liability pled could fall outside the scope of coverage. Defendant Dye could have negligently advised that she owned the plaintiffs' property or trees, she may have negligently advised the Jones defendants as to the metes and bounds of her property, she could have

negligently overseen or failed to oversee at all the work of the Jones defendants, and/or she could have failed to do her due diligence to determine which trees and/or properties belonged to her. There are multiple theories of negligence that may be asserted against her and which do not require her to have acted with intent or the expectation that she was causing harm to the Bradleys.

R01130-1131.

Subsequently, all parties to this matter engaged in mediation on May 12, 2020. R01224.

At that time, Ms. Dye had made a \$100,000.00 demand to resolve both her claim for attorneys' fees for substantially prevailing in F&M's Declaratory Judgment Action and her claims for breach of contract and bad faith against F&M. In response to that demand, on May 22, 2020, Susan

Snowden, Esq., counsel for F&M, sent a letter to counsel for Ms. Dye on behalf of F&M making

a monetary offer of settlement and stating as follows:

F&M will further issue to your client an excess protection letter whereby it would agree that in the event that it is unable to resolve the case and a verdict should be returned in excess of the policy limits, that F&M would satisfy the entire amount of the verdict. Such an agreement would <u>completely protect</u> Ms. Dye from any financial exposure. Further, F&M would continue to vigorously defend your client against Plaintiffs' claims ...

R01586. Notably, Ms. Snowden also included additional settlement terms in the letter (i.e., no admission of liability and requiring the signing of a release of all claims), but did not in any way reference a continued effort on F&M's part to deny coverage and prosecute the declaratory judgment action. *Id*.

On June 4, 2020, Rose Casey, F&M's representative handling Ms. Dye's coverage claims, sent the following letter to Ms. Dye via her counsel:



P.O. BOX 1917 MARTINSBURG, WV 25402-1917

PHONE 800-444-1917 | FAX 800-333-4319 FMIWV.COM

June 4, 2020

Eric Hayhurst Hayhurst Law PLLC PO Box 4635 Morgantown, WV 26504

Re:

Bradley v. Dye, Civil Action No.: 18-C-110 Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia Claim No. FMWVHP17001910

Insured: Andrea Dye

Dear Eric:

Please be advised that we are in receipt of the demand from Plaintiffs in this matter for the sum of \$101,000. This is to inform you that if we receive a demand within the policy limits and are unable to resolve the matter within policy limits and proceed to trial, that should a verdict be returned in excess of the policy limits, F&M would satisfy the entire amount of the verdict.

F&M will continue to vigorously defend this case on Ms. Dye's behalf against Plaintiffs' claims through the law firm of Bailey Wyant PLLC

Sincerely,

All Ouser. Rose Casey, Litigation Claims Specialist Farmers & Mechanics Insurance Companies PO BOX 1917, Martinsburg, WV 25402-1917 Phone: 1-800-444-1917, x 9360 Fax: 1-800-333-4319 Email RCasey@fmiwv.com or claims@fmiwv.com

R01333-1334. This letter is authored and signed by the same F&M representative who authored and signed the reservation of rights letter sent to Ms. Dye. Compare R01334 with R01696. As is clear from the text of these two letters, neither Ms. Snowden nor Ms. Casey qualified F&M's promises to pay upon the reservation or rights previously issued by F&M or, for the matter, in any way. R01334 and 1586.

Based upon F&M's representations in these letters, neither Ms. Dye nor her counsel undertook any further discovery in the declaratory judgment action as it was clear that the insurance coverage issue had been resolved in Ms. Dye's favor. R01697-1709. Discovery in this matter closed on October 16, 2020. R01227. Thereafter, although a policy limits demand had already been made, the Plaintiffs renewed their policy limits demand by letter to Ms. Dye's counsel on the liability claims on October 14, 2020. R01335.

C. Pertinent Procedural Background

On October 19, 2020, Ms. Dye filed a Motion for Summary Judgment regarding the declaratory judgment action, which is the subject of this appeal. R01325-1336. In the Motion for Summary Judgment, Ms. Dye argues that, based upon representations of F&M and its attorney in the above-referenced letter, the remaining "occurrence" issue in the declaratory judgment motion is moot. *Id*.

Subsequent to the filing of the Motion for Summary Judgment, on December 10, 2020, F&M's Rose Casey issued a letter to Ms. Dye's counsel purportedly seeking to clarify her earlier letter promising indemnification under the Policy to Ms. Dye. R01349. On December 14, 2020, F&M filed its response to Ms. Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment, conveniently citing Ms. Casey's December 10, 2020 letter, and arguing that F&M did not waive coverage, nor is it estopped from denying coverage, because of Ms. Snowden and Ms. Casey's letters. R01338-1349. Upon receipt of the same, Ms. Dye's counsel asked Ms. Snowden for the deposition of Ms. Casey. Ms. Snowden refused to arrange the deposition.⁴ R01687-1689. Thereafter, F&M revoked its previous offer of settlement by letter from its new counsel, Brent K. Kesner, Esq. R01587.

Then, on January 20, 2021, seven months after the close of discovery, F&M filed its Supplemental Response to Andrea Dale Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment and Request for Reconsideration of Ruling on Coverage Issues, also subject of this appeal. R1469-1519. In that

⁴ Notably, this exchange occurred outside of the discovery cutoff. As such, the Petitioner did not have a mechanism to seek the deposition of Ms. Casey, other than request it from her counsel.

pleading, F&M sought to expound on its opposition to Ms. Dye's Motion and to take a second bite at the apple on issues previously decided by the Circuit Court. *Id.* Specifically, F&M cited a case from the Southern District of West Virginia in its effort to have this Court find the facts of this case do not constitute an "occurrence" under the Policy. *Id.* Then, for the first time, F&M cited a business exclusion under the Policy which was not part of its declaratory judgment complaint, nor argued in any other pleading in this matter – the "Business" exclusion under Section II – Exclusions of the Policy. *Id.* That business exclusion reads as follows:

- 2. "Business"
 - a. "Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising out of or in connection with a "business" conducted from an "insured location" or engaged in by an "insured", whether or not the "business" is owned or operated by an "insured" or employs an "insured".

This Exclusion E.2. applies but is not limited to an act or omission, regardless of its nature or circumstance, involving a service or duty rendered, promised, owed, or implied to be provided because of the nature of the "business".

R00246. "Business" is defined in the Policy as:

- a. A trade, profession or occupation engaged in on a full-time, part-time or occasional basis; or
- b. Any other activity engaged in for money or other compensation, except the following:
 - (1) One or more activities, not described in (2) through (4) below, for which no "insured" receives more than \$2,000 in total compensation for the 12 months before the beginning of the policy period; ...

R00229.

Before deciding the issues presented in Ms. Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment and

F&M's Request for Reconsideration of Ruling on Coverage Issues, the Circuit Court granted

summary judgment in the underlying matter in favor of Ms. Dye. R1626-1645. That ruling was

subject of appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals, which issued a decision reversing the Circuit

Court in Bradley v. Dye, 875 S.E.2d 238 (W.Va. 2022). After remand, the Circuit Court issued the

instant Order Denying Third-Party Defendant Andrea Dale Dye's Motion for Summary Judgment and Granting Farmers & Mechanics Mutual Insurance Company of West Virginia's Request for Reconsideration of Ruling on Coverage Issues on November 11, 2022 ("Order"). R1659-1683. Thereafter, the Petitioner filed her Notice of Appeal and the Circuit Court entered its Rule 54(b) Order declaring the Order a final appealable order. R1685-1686. The issues presented in the Notice of Appeal are now ripe for review.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of F&M in this matter .The record and law pertaining to this case demonstrate that, instead, summary judgment should have been granted to Ms. Dye or, alternatively, summary judgment should have been denied to all parties as questions of material fact exist such that judgment as a mater of law is in appropriate. There are four reasons for this:

First, by sending the two letters to Ms. Dye promising, without equivocation or qualification, to pay any judgment rendered against her and to continue to vigorously defend her, F&M waived its coverage defenses, including on the "occurrence" issue and application of the "business" exclusion. Further, F&M waived any right to assert the "business" exclusion because it failed to cite exclusion in any correspondence or pleadings in this matter until a motion for reconsideration filed with the Circuit Court well after the close of discovery in this matter.

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