#### Case No. 22-ICA-301

# IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA EFILED. Transaction ID 69848345

ANDREA DALE DYE,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

FARMERS AND MECHANICS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARION COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA Civil Action No. 18-C-110

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FARMERS AND MECHANICS MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF WEST VIRGINIA

Brent K. Kesner (WVSB 2022) Ernest G. Hentschel, II (WVSB 6006) Kesner & Kesner, PLLC 112 Capitol Street P.O. Box 2587 Charleston, WV 25329

Phone: 304-345-5200 Fax: 304-345-5265

Email: <u>bkesner@kesnerlaw.com</u>

Counsel for Respondent

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment to F&M with respect to coverage for the Bradley's claims against the Petitioner. The Circuit Court properly found that the Bradleys' allegations regarding the removal of timber from their property did not constitute an "occurrence" sufficient to trigger coverage under the F&M Policy. The Circuit Court properly found that the business exclusion in the F&M Policy applied to the Bradleys' claims because the purpose of the agreement entered into by the Petitioner was to sell timber and make a profit from such sale. The Circuit Court properly rejected the Petitioner's argument that F&M had waived its coverage defenses and her argument that F&M was estopped from denying coverage for the Bradley's claims based upon the June 4, 2020 letter advising that F&M would satisfy the entire amount of any excess verdict.

With respect to the Petitioner's waiver and estoppel arguments, the Petitioner is required to demonstrate that F&M intentionally relinquished a known right and that the petitioner relied upon F&M's conduct to her detriment. F&M has consistently denied that coverage exists and has never expressly relinquished its rights under the Policy. Moreover, the doctrine of waiver cannot create coverage where none is contracted for by the parties. "Waiver" can only be used to continue coverage which would otherwise be lost by a technical non-compliance with a forfeiture clause. In this case, the Petitioner is seeking to have the Court use waiver to write a new policy which does not require an "occurrence" to trigger coverage and does not contain a business pursuits exclusion. Under applicable law, such coverage defenses may not be waived merely by an insurance company's failure to specify them, and coverage cannot be broadened through waiver to make the policy cover a risk which would not otherwise be covered. Likewise, the Petitioner has not demonstrated that she relied upon any waiver of coverage by F&M to her detriment. While she has asserted that she chose to forego additional discovery with respect to the coverage issues based upon F&M's conduct, she ignores the fact that the time for such discovery had already passed when the subject letters were sent, and the Court had even ruled on the coverage issues. Finally, the Petitioner's assertion that coverage can be broadened through waiver and estoppel in light of F&M's alleged "bad faith" is without merit where F&M has defended the Petitioner under a reservation of rights throughout this litigation.

With respect to the "occurrence" issue, the F&M Policy only provides coverage for damages caused by an "occurrence," defined as an accident. Here, all of the Bradleys' claimed damages arise from intentional conduct such as the cutting of trees and the building of timbering roads. The Petitioner's assertion that coverage exists merely because she did not intend to cut the Bradleys' timber or build roads on the Bradleys' property misses the point. Because the alleged

damages were the expected result of the alleged conduct, no accident took place and coverage is not triggered under the F&M Policy.

With respect to the business exclusion found in the F&M Policy, coverage does not apply because the evidence establishes that the Petitioner entered into the timbering agreement for the purpose of making a profit from the sale of the timber. The fact that she did not own the timbering business herself and was not "regularly" engaged in that business is irrelevant.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests oral argument under *Rule 20* of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure* because she asserts that the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument. In response, F&M would note that because the issues raised in this appeal address only the application of settled law to the subject claims, oral argument is not necessary.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

The Petitioners appeal the November 11, 2022 *Order* issued by the Circuit Court denying the Petitioner's request for summary judgment and granting summary judgment in favor of F&M. Under settled West Virginia law, the *Order* is subject to *de novo* review. *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994) ("A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*."); *see also*, *Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 213 W.Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002) ("This Court reviews *de novo* the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court.").

While the standard of review is *de novo*, when the Court reviews a decision of the Circuit Court to grant summary judgment, it does so under the same standards that the Circuit Court applied to determine whether summary judgment was appropriate. *Williams v. Precision Coil*,

Inc., 194 W.Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1995). Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure governs requests for partial summary judgement and provides: "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

The purpose of summary judgment is to dispose promptly of controversies on their merits if no facts are disputed or only a question of law is at issue. *W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c)*; *Painter v. Peavy,* 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994); *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.,* 194 W. Va. 52, 58, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995). If a party moves for summary judgment and presents "affirmative evidence that there is no genuine issue of material fact, the burden of production shifts to the nonmoving party who must either (1) rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce additional evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) submit an affidavit explaining why further discovery is necessary as provided in *W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(f)*". Syl. Pt. 3, *Williams*, 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329. Immaterial facts are irrelevant, and summary judgment is required if the non-movant cannot establish an essential element of her case. *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 58, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995); Syl. Pt. 5, *Jividen v. Law*, 194 W. Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).

A "genuine issue" for summary judgment purposes is simply one half of a trialworthy issue, and a genuine issue does not arise unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for that party; the opposing half of a trialworthy issue is present where the non-moving party can point to one or more disputed "material" facts. *Jividen v. Law*, 194 W. Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).

A "material fact" is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of litigation under the applicable law. *Jividen*, 194 W. Va. 705. For purposes of determining whether there is a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to preclude summary judgment, factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted. *Id.* The nonmoving party must, at a minimum, offer more than a "scintilla of evidence" to support his claim. *Id.* The mere contention that issues are disputable is not sufficient to deter the trial from the award of summary judgment. *DeRocchis v. Matlack, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 417, 460 S.E.2d 663 (1995). Summary judgment "shall be entered against" an adverse party, *W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(e)* (emphasis supplied), who cannot point to "specific facts demonstrating that, indeed, there is a 'trialworthy' issue." *Williams*, 194 W. Va. at 60.

Although the non-movant for summary judgment is entitled to the most favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence, it cannot create a genuine issue of material fact through mere speculation or the building of one inference upon another. *Marcus v. Holley*, 217 W.Va. 508, 516, 618 S.E.2d 517, 525 (2005). Unsupported speculation is not sufficient to defeat summary judgment. *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 58, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

## II. The Circuit Court properly rejected the Petitioner's arguments regarding waiver and estoppel.

The Petitioner begins her arguments by asserting that F&M expressly waived its coverage position by sending letters to Petitioner's counsel promising "without equivocation or qualification" to pay any judgment rendered against the Petitioner and to vigorously defend her. (See Petitioner's *Brief* at pg. 14.) Petitioner then argues that, in light of that waiver, F&M is

estopped from now asserting any coverage defenses. These arguments are without merit and simply ignore applicable West Virginia law on the issue of waiver and estoppel.

Waiver and estoppel, as they apply in the context of insurance coverage, were discussed at length in the case of *Potesta v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 202 W.Va. 308, 504 S.E.2d 135 (1998), wherein the Court explained:

to establish waiver there must be evidence demonstrating that a party has intentionally relinquished a known right. See also Dye v. Pennsylvania Cas. Co., 128 W.Va. 112, 118, 35 S.E.2d 865, 868 (1945) (" 'Waiver is the voluntary relinquishment of a known right'." (citation omitted)). This intentional relinquishment, or waiver, may be expressed or implied. Ara at 269, 387 S.E.2d at 323 ("Waiver may be established by express conduct or impliedly, through inconsistent actions." (citing Creteau v. Phoenix Assurance Co., 202 Va. 641, 119 S.E.2d 336, 339 (1961)). However, where the alleged waiver is implied, there must be clear and convincing evidence of the party's intent to relinquish the known right. Hoffman v. Wheeling Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 133 W.Va. 694, 713, 57 S.E.2d 725, 735 (1950) (" 'A waiver of legal rights will not be implied except upon clear and unmistakable proof of an intention to waive such rights.' " (Citation omitted). Furthermore, "[t]he burden of proof to establish waiver is on the party claiming the benefit of such waiver, and is never presumed." Id. (citing Hamilton v. Republic Cas. Co., 102 W.Va. 32, 135 S.E. 259 [ (1926) ] ). See also Mundy v. Arcuri, 165 W.Va. 128, 131, 267 S.E.2d 454, 457 (1980) ("One who asserts waiver ... has the burden of proving it." (Citations omitted)); 19 Michie's Jurisprudence Waiver § 5 at 678 (1991) ("The burden of proof is on the one asserting a waiver.").

*Id.*, at 315, 142 (Emphasis added.) Importantly, the Court also noted "[t]he doctrine of waiver focuses on the conduct of the party against whom waiver is sought," here, F&M. *Id* at 315-316, 142-143.

In this case, the Petitioner asserts that F&M waived its arguments regarding coverage by promising to pay the entire amount of the verdict. However, her arguments ignore the facts of this case. Throughout this litigation, F&M has asserted that its Policy does not provide coverage for the Plaintiffs' claims. In fact, F&M has expressly sought a declaratory judgment to that effect. (See A.R.195-320.) Moreover, F&M has provided a defense while the litigation proceeds subject

to a full reservation of its rights in an effort to protect its insured in the event coverage was found to exist. (See 1690-1696, F&M's October 11, 2018 Reservation of Rights letter.) Had F&M truly intended to waive its coverage position in June of 2020, as the Petitioner suggests, it would have been incumbent upon F&M to formally withdraw its reservation of rights letter, to advise the Circuit Court that the factual determinations to be made the jury at trial were no longer necessary, and to dismiss its suit seeking a declaratory judgment (See F&M's Third-Party Complaint For Declaratory Judgment A.R. 195-320.) F&M took none of those steps, and instead continued to participate in the litigation in order to preserve its position. Thus, all of F&M's conduct as the case developed has been consistent with its position that no coverage exists under its Policy for the Bradleys' claims. While the Petitioner seeks to seize upon F&M's June 4, 2020 letter in an effort to play "gotcha" and sidestep the contested coverage issues altogether, she has offered no evidence that F&M intended to waive its coverage position. Instead, the Petitioner suggests that F&M could waive its previously articulated coverage positions merely by failing to mention them in the subject letters. Such an argument ignores the basic principles of waiver as they apply in the context of an insurance policy. As the Supreme Court noted in *Potesta*:

The doctrine of waiver cannot create coverage where none is contracted for by the parties. Waiver can only be used to continue coverage which would otherwise be lost by a technical non-compliance with a forfeiture clause."

*Potesta*, at 320, 147. In the instant case, the Petitioner is seeking to have the Court use waiver to write a new policy for the parties which does not require an "occurrence" to trigger coverage and does not contain a business pursuits exclusion. The Court in *Potesta* explained why such a request must fail, noting:

defenses founded on a lack of basic coverage "may not be waived merely by the company's failure to specify them in its initial response to the claim, for the effect of that would be to expand the policy to create a risk not intended to be undertaken

by the company. . . . whatever may be the scope of waiver in the law of insurance, it does not extend to the broadening of the coverage, so as to make the policy cover a risk not within its terms. That would require a new contract, and cannot be accomplished by waiver." . . .

The reasons usually addressed in support of the general rule that waiver and estoppel cannot extend coverage of an insurance policy are that a court cannot create a new contract for the parties, that an insurer should not be required to pay a loss for which it charged no premium, and that a risk should not be imposed upon an insurer which it might have denied.

*Potesta*, at 319-20, 146-47. Thus, the Petitioner's suggestion that F&M could inadvertently waive its entire coverage position by sending a letter with respect to how it would respond to a policy limits demand and/or in the event of an excess verdict is simply without merit.

The June 4, 2020 letter (A.R.1334) was obviously written in order to address the type of exposure discussed in *Shamblin v. Nationwide*, 183 W.Va. 585, 396 S.E.2d 766 (W. Va. 1990). In that regard, the insurer in *Shamblin* failed to settle covered claims against its insured for its policy limits when it had the opportunity to do so and the claimant obtained a verdict in excess of the insurer's limits. The *Shamblin* Court found that the insurer was liable for the excess verdict, and stated:

We believe that wherever there is a failure on the part of an insurer to settle within policy limits where there exists the opportunity to so settle and where such settlement within policy limits would release the insured from any and all personal liability, that the insurer has prima facie failed to act in its insured's best interest and that such failure to so settle prima facie constitutes bad faith towards its insured.

*Id.*, at 595, 776. Far from expressly and unequivocally conceding its coverage position, F&M's June 4, 2020, letter did not address coverage at all and was merely intended to advise the Petitioner that F&M would follow the requirements of *Shamblin* in the event coverage was found to exist. Specifically, the letter indicated:

Please be advised that we are in receipt of the demand from Plaintiffs in this matter for the sum of \$101,000. This is to inform you that if we receive a demand within

the policy limits and are unable to resolve the matter within policy limits and proceed to trial, that should a verdict be returned in excess of the policy limits, F&M would satisfy the entire amount of the verdict.

(See A.R. 1334.) Likewise, the May 22, 2020, letter upon which the Petitioner also relies indicated:

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